ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Richland County

DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

Opinion No. 2015-UP-014 (S.C. Ct. App. filed 1/14/2015)

10-GS-40-02700-02701  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED

APR 20 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MELVIN P. STUKES,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-212628  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS  
\_\_\_\_\_

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

**I N D E X**

### **QUESTION PRESENTED**

Did the trial judge err in charging the jury, over objection, S.C. Code §16-3-657 providing that the testimony of the victim need not be corroborated in prosecutions under §§ 16-3-652 through 16-3-658 when, under the facts of this particular case involving the defense of consent, the charge confused the jury, improperly bolstered the testimony of the prosecuting witness and constituted an impermissible comment on the facts?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August of 2010, the Richland County Grand Jury indicted Stukes for criminal sexual conduct first degree and burglary first degree, indictments #10-GS-40-2700-2701. On July 24, 2012, Stukes proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin. Attorneys Tracy E. Pinnock, Brian R. Shealey and Alicia Dyar represented Stukes at trial. Attorneys Kathryn C. Ashton and Daniel R. Goldberg prosecuted the case on behalf of the State. On July 27, 2012, the jury returned verdicts of guilty and Judge Benjamin sentenced Stukes to twenty five years concurrent for each charge. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on August 1, 2012, and the direct appeal perfected. On January 14, 2015, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the sentence and conviction. A petition for rehearing was filed on January 29, 2015. The petition for rehearing was denied on March 19, 2015. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Sometime after 9:30 PM on May 10, 2004, Misty Shealy Millender drove from her apartment at the Park Apartments on Longcreek Drive off of Broad River Road to Jacqueline Bruton's house in Hopkins, an approximate thirty minute drive. (R. p. 139, line 24 – p. 140 lines 1-3; p. 184, line 6- p. 185, line 1). Millender told Bruton that she had been sexually assaulted that night. (R. p. 181, line 23 – p. 182, lines 1-19). Bruton convinced Millender to go to hospital. (R. p. 147, line 18 – p. 148, lines 1-9). Bruton and Millender then drove from Hopkins to the Lexington Medical Center where Millender was examined. (R. p. 148, lines 7-14).

Millender testified that about 9:30 PM on May 10, 2004, as she was getting ready for work her doorbell rang and without looking, she opened the door. (R. p. 142, line 1 – p. 143, lines 1-7). According to Millender a man forced his way in, she fell over the side of the couch, blacked out and when she awakened she was being sexually assaulted on the couch. (R. p. 143, line 22 – p. 144, lines 1-16). Sergeant Pearson with the Richland County Sheriff's Department testified that the only information Millender could provide was that the suspect was male. (R. p. 214, lines 4-24). Sergeant Pearson testified that Millender told Deputy Hicks that the assailant grabbed her by the throat with his left hand and hit her in the face with his right hand. (R. p. 216, lines 13- 20). In a written statement to Investigator Branham with the Richland County Sheriff's Department on May 14, 2004, Millender stated that she believed the assailant grabbed her around the neck with his right hand and punched her with his left hand. (R. p. 325, line 21 – p. 326, lines 1-4). Donna Sharpe, an emergency room nurse at the Lexington Medical Center testified that there was no bleeding bruising or abrasions in the pelvic area but testified that Millender had "a red area surrounded by bruise to right cheek bone below right orbit, small red area to right lower eyelid, and

a red mark to the right side of the neck resembles a hand mark.” (R. p. 248, lines 11-14). The report from Deputy Hicks lists no visible injuries to Millender. (R. p. 216, lines 21-25).

Investigator Brian Metz of the Richland County Sheriff’s Department went to the Lexington Medical Center at 2:40 AM on May 11, 2004. (R. p. 200, line 2.– p. 201, line 1). Millender told Investigator Metz that she had been sexually assaulted in her apartment. (R. p. 202, lines 8-15). Investigator Stan Richards of the Richland County Sheriff’s Department processed Millender’s apartment for forensic evidence at 3:15 AM on May 11, 2004. (R. p. 283, lines 3-23). Based on information given to Investigator Richards about the location of the assault, his investigation focused on the door and the sofa. (R. p. 284, lines 6-10). Investigator Richards testified that he found no usable finger prints on the door and no seminal fluids on and around the couch. (R. p. 295, lines 2- 21) Investigator Richards admitted that he did not collect the sheets from inside the bedroom. (R. p. 296, lines 2-14).

On October 27, 2004, Rhonda Fields, a DNA analyst at the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division developed an unidentified male profile from semen found on Millender’s underwear. (R. pp. 404-405). In 2007, the profile developed was found to match the Appellant. (R. p. 406, lines 1-4). In 2010, Fields tested a buccal swab from Appellant and confirmed that the developed male profile from Millender’s underwear matched the Appellant. (R. p. 406, lines 5-25).

On March 23, 2010, Investigator Godfrey with the Richland County Sheriff’s Department found Millender in the Orangeburg County Detention Center. (R. pp. 414-415). On May 5, 2010, Sergeant Caldwell with the Richland County Sheriff’s Department arrested Appellant at his sister’s apartment on Marlboro Street. (R. p. 377, lines 1-10). According to Sergeant Caldwell, when he read the arrest warrant for criminal sexual conduct against Misty Shealy [Millender], Appellant

replied that the warrant was a mistake because he did not know Shealy [Millender]. (R. p. 372, lines 16-24).

The same day he was arrested, Appellant voluntarily gave a DNA sample and statement to Investigator Godfrey. (R. p. 429, line 17 – p. 430, 431, lines 1-11; pp. 436-446). Appellant admitted having lived at the Ashton Apartments with his son's mother Quantina Brown. (R. p. 439, line 23 – p. 440, lines 1-4). Investigator Godfrey testified that the Ashton Apartments were close to the Park Apartments where Millender lived in 2004. Investigator Godfrey testified that Appellant lived at the Ashton Apartments in 2004. (R. p. 433, line 21 – p. 434, lines 1-7). Investigator Godfrey showed Appellant a driver's license photo of Millender and Appellant denied knowing her. (R. p. 440, line 15 – p. 441, lines 1-11). Appellant admitted knowing a college student named Christopher who lived in the Park Apartments and a man named Louis who worked at the Exxon on Broad River Road. (R. p. 440, lines 7-14). When asked if he had consensual sex with Misty Shealy [Millender] Appellant responded, "Not to my knowledge." (R. p. 443, lines 8-10). Appellant denied breaking into Misty Shealy's apartment and he denied raping her. (R. p. 443, lines 3-7). When asked why his semen would be located inside Ms. Shealy's body<sup>1</sup>, Appellant answered, "It couldn't be no other option. I had sex with her, sir." (R. p. 443, lines 19-22).

At trial Appellant testified that he met Misty Shealy [Millender] at his friend Louis' house. (R. p. 506, lines 1-2). Appellant testified that he and Millender went back to her apartment, she invited him in, they went into her bedroom and had consensual sex on her bed. (R. p. 506, lines 2 – p. 507, lines 1-25). Appellant testified that when police questioned him he did not recognize the photo of Millender and did not know her name. (R. p. 513, line 18 – p. 514, lines 1-11). Appellant

---

<sup>1</sup> The semen was actually found on Millender's underwear. While semen was identified from the vaginal swab submitted from Millender, the DNA analyst was unable to identify the contributor. (Tr. pp. 453-454).

testified that after he was arrested and talked with police in 2010, he had time to think back to 2004, and he remembered having sex with Millender. (R. p. 514, line 12 – p. 515, lines 1-6). Appellant again denied knowing Millender's name. (R. p. 515, lines 2-6).

## ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in charging the jury, over objection, S.C. Code §16-3-657 providing that the testimony of the victim need not be corroborated in prosecutions under §§ 16-3-652 through 16-3-658 when, under the facts of this particular case involving the defense of consent, the charge confused the jury and improperly bolstered the testimony of the prosecuting witness and constituted an impermissible comment on the facts.

The defense in this case was consent. The credibility of the witnesses was a key determination for the jury. Prior to trial Petitioner Stukes moved to prevent any reference to S.C. Code §16-3-657 providing that the testimony of the victim need not be corroborated. (R. p. 74, lines 7-16). Petitioner submitted a written motion and memorandum in support of the motion, marked as Court's Exhibit #1. (R. p. 75, lines 8-9; Court's Exhibit #1, R. p. 654). The State agreed not to reference the statute in opening statements and the judge withheld ruling on the motion until the close of the case but before the charge to the jury. (R. p. 74, line 22 – 75, lines 1-6).

At the close of the case but before the charge to the jury, Petitioner objected to any mention of S.C. Code §16-3-657 providing that the testimony of the victim need not be corroborated. (R. p. 544, line 11 – p. 545, 546, 547; pp. 549-552). Petitioner argued that the State should be barred from mentioning the law in closing argument. (R. p. 547, lines 10-11). In the alternative, Petitioner objected to the judge charging the jury with the law and argued that the standard charge on credibility of the witnesses was sufficient. (R. p. 547, lines 11-19). Petitioner specifically argued that charging the jury that the testimony of the victim need not be corroborated constituted an impermissible comment on the facts by the judge. (R. p. 545, lines 1-3). Additionally, Petitioner argued that the charge improperly bolstered the testimony of the prosecuting witness, Misty Shealy Millender. (R. p. 546, line 10 – p. 547, lines 1-7). The judge

overruled Petitioner's objection to charging the jury with S.C. Code §16-3-657, citing State v. Hill, 394 S.C. 280, 715 S.E.2d 368 (Ct.App. 2011). (R. p. 550, line 18 – p. 551, 552, lines 2-4).

In closing argument the State referenced the statute arguing:

The judge is also going to tell you about the law in this State, 16-3-657 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, and that statute says that the testimony of a victim does not need to be corroborated in a criminal sexual conduct case. That is the law in this state, and what that means in simple terms, if the victim says that she was raped, there doesn't have to be other evidence for you, if you believe her, to find a man guilty of the CSC. It doesn't have to be corroborated. It can be her word versus his and if you take her word, that's all it takes.

(R. p. 581, line 24 – p. 582, lines 1-8).

In charging the jury the judge stated, "The testimony of a **victim** in a criminal sexual conduct prosecution need not be corroborated by other testimony or evidence. Necessarily, you must determine the credibility of **witnesses** who have testified in this case. Credibility simply means believability. It becomes your duty as jurors to analyze and to evaluate the evidence and determine which evidence convinces you of its truth." (R. p. 604, lines 4-10). The judge went on to give the general credibility of witnesses charge. (R. p. 604, lines 11-22). Petitioner renewed the objection to charging §16-3-657. (R. p. 616, lines 17-20). The State made no objection to the jury charge. (R. p. 616, line 16).

Jury deliberations began at 12:05 PM. (R. p. 618, line 8). The jury returned to the courtroom at 1:25 PM requesting a copy of the law. (R. p. 619, lines 1-4; Court's Exhibit #3, R. p. 688). The judge declined to provide a copy of the charge to the jury but told them if they would like a specific part re-charged, she would do that. (R. p. 619, lines 5-12). The jury requested a recharge on criminal sexual misconduct. (R. p. 619, lines 22-24; Court's Exhibit #5, R. p. 703). The jury returned at 1:30 PM and the judge re-charged the jury in regard to criminal sexual conduct in the first degree. (R. p. 620, line 3 – p. 621 lines 1-3). Shortly after the re-

charge the judge realized she had omitted the portion of the charge stating that “If you find that a sexual battery did occur, you must then decide whether the state has proved beyond a reasonable doubt that – it’s 1) the defendant used aggravated force to accomplish the sexual battery. Aggravated force means the use of physical force or violence of a high and aggravated nature to overcome the victim, this includes the use of a deadly weapon.” (R. p. 622, lines 2-10). The judge omitted this portion in both the initial charge and the re-charge. (R. p. 611, line 21 – p. 612, lines 1-13; p. 620, line 9 – p. 621, lines 1-3). Petitioner moved for a mistrial based on the erroneous instruction. (R. p. 624, lines 2-7). The judge denied the motion and at 2:06 PM re-charged the jury with the full law on criminal sexual conduct first degree. (R. p. 627, line 6 – p. 628, 629, lines 1-10). Petitioner renewed the motion for a mistrial and the motion was again denied. (R. p. 629, lines 16-25).

The jury then asked for a definition of aggravated battery. (R. p. 630, lines 4-7; Court’s Exhibit 6, R. p. 704). Petitioner again asked for a mistrial. (R. pp. 630 – 634). The judge denied the motion and at 2:48 PM re-charged the jury with the full law of criminal sexual conduct first degree. (R. p. 635, lines 7 – p. 636, lines 1-19).

The jury then asked two more questions. The jury first requested to see a transcript of the defendant’s testimony. Second, the jury asked, “The South Carolina that the victim—the South Carolina law that the victim’s testimony in CSC – CSE does not have to be corroborated, does the victim – does that law imply that the victim’s testimony must be accepted as being true?” (R. p. 637, lines 1-13; Court’s Exhibit #7, R. p. 705; Court’s Exhibit #8, R. p. 706). The judge told counsel that she would replay the defendant’s testimony. (R. p. 637, lines 3-7). In regard to the second question, the judge proposed re-charging the general credibility of **witnesses** charge. (R. p. 637, lines 14-22). Petitioner again moved for a mistrial. (R. p. 638, lines 4-7). The judge

denied the motion stating, “Well, I think that – I’ll just deny the motion. I think the answer will clarify their question, and if there was ever a question as to whether or not the jurors thought they had to only consider her testimony, I think by them asking this question that it will definitely be clear that the answer to that is no once I read it to them. So, I will deny the motion for a mistrial.” (R. p. 638, lines 8-15). At 4:56 PM the jury returned to the courtroom and the defendant’s testimony was replayed. (R. p. 638, line 21 – p. 639, lines 1-11). In response to the jury’s second question, the judge failed to instruct the jury that the law does not imply that the victim’s testimony must be accepted as being true. Instead, the judge instructed the jury:

Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, you must determine the credibility of all **witnesses** who have testified in this case. Credibility simply means believability. It becomes your duty as jurors to analyze and to evaluate the evidence and determine which evidence convinces you of its truth.

In determining the believability of **witnesses** who have testified in this case, you may believe one witness over several **witnesses**, or several **witnesses** over one **witness**. You may believe a part of the testimony of a **witness** and reject the remaining part of the testimony of that same **witness**. You may believe the **witness** in its entirety, or reject the testimony of a **witness** in its entirety. You may consider whether any **witness** has exhibited to you any interest, bias, prejudice, or other motives in this case. You may also consider the appearance and manner of a **witness** while on the witness stand.

(R. p. 640, lines 1-16, emphasis added). The jury then returned with verdicts of guilty.

Petitioner renewed the objection to charging the jury with S.C. Code §16-3-657. (R. pp. 645 – 648). Again, Petitioner argued that the charge was an improper comment on the facts and improperly bolstered the testimony of the prosecuting witness. (R. p. 646, lines 6-11). The judge noted that in response to the jury’s question about accepting the victim’s testimony as true, she informed the jury that they must determine the credibility of all **witnesses**. (R. p. 648, line 15 – p. 649, lines 1-6). The judge, however, did not tell the jury that the statute does **not** require them to accept the **victim’s** testimony as being true. Despite the trial judge’s efforts with inclusion of

the word “all witnesses,” the answer to the jury’s question was confusing and misleading and failed to clarify that the prosecuting witness, or victim as referenced in the statute and as referenced by the jury, is a witness for purposes of determining credibility. As evidenced by the jury’s question, instructing the jury that the victim’s testimony need not be corroborated confused the jury, improperly bolstered the testimony of the prosecuting witness and constituted an improper comment on the facts of the case.

In State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993), Schumpert argued that charging the jury with S.C. Code §16-3-657 was error as an improper charge on the facts. This Court disagreed writing:

The trial judge properly charged the jury it could believe any single witness over several, it was the sole judge of the facts, he had no opinion about those facts, and the State had the burden of proving the offense charged beyond a reasonable doubt. Taking the charge as a whole, we find no reversible error. Accord Lottie v. State, 273 Ind. 529, 406 N.E.2d 632 (1980). Id. 312 S.C. at 509, 435 S.E.2d at 863.

The dissent in Schumpert noted:

I would also hold that the “no corroboration” charge based on S.C.Code Ann. § 16–3–657 (1985) was reversible error. It is axiomatic that a trial judge must not indicate an opinion or express a view reasonably calculated to influence the jury in deciding a material issue of fact because such comment is forbidden by S.C. Const. art. V, § 21. State v. Simmons, 209 S.C. 531, 41 S.E.2d 217 (1947). Since the charge specified only that the victim's testimony need not be corroborated, it appears to express an opinion on her credibility. In State v. Bagwell, 201 S.C. 387, 23 S.E.2d 244 (1943), this Court rejected a similar “no corroboration charge” in the context of accomplice testimony. The law found in Section 16–3–657 should not be charged to the jury. S.C. Const. art. V, § 21.

The majority does not discuss the propriety of the “no corroboration” charge itself, but instead holds that the jury charge as a whole did not constitute reversible error. I disagree. We have rejected such analysis in State v. Bagwell, supra. Further, the charge was especially prejudicial in this case because it was the victim's word against the defendant's. I would hold that the giving of this charge was reversible error. Accord, Cox v. State, 44 S.W. 157 (Tex.Crim.Ct.App.1898).

Id. 312 S.C. at 510, 435 S.E.2d at 864.

In State v. Weldon, 89 S.C. 308, 71 S.E.2d 828, 828 (1911), this Court approved the following charge: “The law in this state for a long number of years was declared by our Supreme Court to be that it was unsafe to convict upon the uncorroborated testimony of an accomplice. But our Supreme Court has recently changed that doctrine, and it is not the law now. The law in regard to the testimony of an accomplice is just like it is as to the testimony of any other witness in a case. That is to say, that you are the sole judges of the weight you should give to such testimony.” As noted by the dissent in Schumpert, in the same way that it is improper to instruct the jury that it is unsafe to convict based on the uncorroborated testimony of an accomplice, it is improper to instruct the jury that the prosecuting witness’ testimony need not be corroborated because in giving such a charge it appears that the judge is commenting on the credibility of the witness.

In State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 631 S.E.2d 244 (2006), Rayfield argued that charging the jury with S.C. Code §16-3-657 constitutes an impermissible comment on the facts of the case, improperly emphasizes the testimony of one witness, and carries a strong possibility of unfairly biasing the jury against the defendant. This Court disagreed and wrote:

A trial judge is not required to charge § 16–3–657, but when the judge chooses to do so, giving the charge does not constitute reversible error when this single instruction is not unduly emphasized and the charge as a whole comports with the law. The jury in this case was thoroughly instructed on the State's burden of proof and the jury's duty to find the facts and judge the credibility of witnesses. The trial judge in this case, as shown in the above portions of the charge, fully and properly instructed the jury on these principles.

Id. 369 S.C at 117-118, 631 S.E.2d at 250. The dissent in Rayfield noted:

In general, the trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina. ... A jury charge is correct if it contains the correct definition of the

law when read as a whole.” Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 665, 594 S.E.2d 462,472 (2004) (citations omitted). Some principles of law, however, are not to be charged to a jury. See, e.g., State v. Grant, 275 S.C. 404, 408, 272 S.E.2d 169, 171 (1980) (holding that although evidence of a defendant's flight is admissible as circumstantial evidence of guilt, it is improper for the trial judge to instruct the jury on the law of flight, because such an instruction “oftentimes has the potential for creating more problems than solutions,” as it “places undue emphasis upon that part of circumstantial evidence”).

Contrary to the majority opinion, we did not hold in Schumpert that this no-corroboration charge was proper. Rather, “[t]aking the charge as a whole, we [found] no reversible error.” 312 S.C. at 509, 435 S.E.2d at 863. We observed that the trial judge, in addition to charging the jury under section 16–3–657, had charged “the jury it could believe any single witness over several, it was the sole judge of the facts, [the trial judge] had no opinion about those facts, and the State had the burden of proving the offense charged beyond a reasonable doubt.” Id.

I would hold that it is error for a trial court to charge the jury that an alleged victim's testimony needs no corroboration. Although section 16–3–657 contains current and correct law, it is not a proper subject of a jury charge. Section 16–3–657 prevents courts, either on a dispositive motion at the trial level or on appellate review, from finding a lack of sufficient evidence to support a conviction because the alleged victim's testimony is uncorroborated. See James Cranston Gray, Jr., Criminal Law—Rape Reform in South Carolina, 30 S.C. L.Rev. 45, 55–60 (1979) (discussing the no-corroboration rule as governing judicial review of the sufficiency of the evidence); cf. Ludy v. State, 784 N.E.2d 459, 463 (Ind.2003) (holding that the no-corroboration rule is a legal standard for a court reviewing a conviction). Charging this rule does not assist the jury in fulfilling its function of deciding the facts and determining whether the state has proved the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt. In fact, it “has the potential for creating more problems than solutions,” for it might cause confusion when read with the general charge on witness credibility.

More important, charging this rule carries a strong possibility of biasing the jury against the defendant. No witness's testimony need be corroborated. By specifically charging that the alleged victim's testimony need not be corroborated, the trial court singles out the alleged victim and “appears to express an opinion on her credibility.” State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 510, 435 S.E.2d 859, 864 (1993) (Finney, J., dissenting); see also S.C. Const. art. V, § 17 (providing that “[j]udges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law”). I would therefore hold that charging a jury on the contents of section 16–3–657 constitutes error.

Further, I would overrule the holding in Schumpert that the charge as a whole can render this no-corroboration charge harmless. Separately instructing the jury that it

may believe one witness against many or many against one does not ameliorate or remove the favorable emphasis on the alleged victim's testimony.

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