STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

APR 29 2015

Appeal from Richland County
The Honorable DeAndrea Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge
COA Appellate Case No. 2012-212628

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

MELVIN P. STUKES,

Petitioner.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARY LEDDON
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DANIEL E. JOHNSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge did not err in charging the jury on S.C. Code §16-3-657. The charge given comports with South Carolina precedent.

Generally, a trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina. See Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 665, 594 S.E.2d 462, 472-73 (2004). A jury charge is correct if it contains the correct definition of the law when read as a whole. See State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 119, 631 S.E.2d 244, 251 (2006); Sheppard, 357 S.C. at 665, 594 S.E.2d at 473; State v. Patterson, 367 S.C. 219, 231, 625 S.E.2d 239, 245 (Ct. App. 2006). The trial court's charge in this case comported with our state's precedent in charging S.C. Code §16-3-657 as this single instruction was not unduly emphasized and the charge as a whole comported with the law.

S.C. Code §16-3-657 provides, "The testimony of the victim need not be corroborated in prosecutions under §§ 16-3-652 through 16-3-658." The referenced statutes prohibit various forms of criminal sexual conduct, including criminal sexual conduct, 1st degree, for which Appellant was charged. See S.C. Code §16-3-652. In State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993), the South Carolina Supreme Court found that it was not error to charge §16-3-657 as long as the charge as a whole comports with the law.

Relying on Schumpert, in State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. at 117-118, 631 S.E.2d at 250, the Supreme Court ruled:

A trial judge is not required to charge § 16-3-657, but when the judge chooses to do so, giving the charge does not constitute reversible error when this single instruction is not unduly emphasized and the charge as a whole comports with the law.

Noting Rayfield, in State v. Hill, 394 S.C. 280, 715 S.E.2d 368 (Ct. App. 2011) this Court reviewed a charge on §16-3-657 identical to the one given in this case. In both Hill and the present case, the court's charge consisted simply of the one sentence statute followed by a charge on credibility. As in Hill, the trial judge charged:

The testimony of a victim in a criminal sexual conduct prosecution need not be corroborated by other testimony or evidence. Necessarily, you must determine the credibility of witnesses who have testified in this case.

(R. p. 604, lines 4-7.) No further mention was made of the §16-3-657 in the trial court's jury charge.³ The credibility charge continued as follows:

Credibility simply means believability. It becomes your duty as jurors to analyze and to evaluate the evidence and determine which evidence convinces you of its truth.

In determining the believability of witnesses who have testified in this case, you may believe one witness over several witnesses or several witnesses over one witness.

³ It may be noted that the only other mention made to the jury regarding §16-3-657 appears in the solicitor's closing argument. The solicitor did not mention §16-3-657 during her opening argument. (R. p. 112 – p. 120, line 9.) In her closing argument, the solicitor briefly stated:

The judge is also going to tell you about the law in this state, 16-3-657 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, and that statute says that the testimony of a victim does not need to be corroborated in a criminal sexual conduct case. That is the law in this state, and what that means in simple terms, if the victim says that she was raped, there doesn't have to be any other evidence for you, *if you believe her*, to find a man guilty of the CSC. It doesn't have to be corroborated. *It can be her word versus his and if you take her word, that's all it takes.*

But I submit to you in this case, even though that's the law, it has been corroborated. Think about it. ...

[Emphasis supplied.] (R. p. 581, line 24 – p. 582, line 10.) Appellant made no contemporaneous objection to this argument, and the argument is not challenged on appeal.

The solicitor went on to discuss evidence which she felt corroborated Victim's story: her statements consistently reported that she was punched and grabbed and nurses saw marks on her face and neck. (R. p. 582, lines 10-22.) The solicitor also stated in closing that the State carried the burden to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. (R. p. 583, line 12-p. 584, line 4.) The solicitor further discussed the credibility of witnesses, specifically asking the jury whether they believed Victim and whether they believed Appellant. (R. p. 585, line 14 – p. 586, line 16.) She emphasized that the jurors were judges of the facts. (R. p. 586, lines 4-5.) The solicitor's remarks make clear to the jury that they must still determine whether the victim is to be believed; if the jury determines that the victim is credible then they may find the defendant guilty. Even in the solicitor's argument, the law is conveyed such that the Victim's testimony is not favored over that of other witnesses by the "no corroboration" rule. Rather, it is emphasized that *if* the Victim is believed, Appellant is guilty.

You may believe a part of a – of the testimony of the witness and rejected the remaining part of the testimony of that same witness. You may believe the testimony of a witness in its entirety, are you may reject the testimony of a witness in its entirety.

You may consider whether any witness has exhibited to you and interest, bias, prejudice, or other motives in this case. You may also consider the appearance and manner of a witness while on the witness stand.

(R. p. 604, lines 7-22.) The trial judge also instructed that prior statements of witnesses could be used in considering credibility, and Victim was questioned during trial about her prior statements. (R. p. 606, lines 10-23.) Moreover, the trial judge charged the jury both in opening and closing charges that the jury was the sole and exclusive judge of the facts. (R. p. 107, line 6 – p. 108, line 5; p. 602, lines 19-24.) In the closing charge, the trial judge stated,

...you are not to infer from what I have said during the progress of this trial in ruling upon the admissibility of evidence or otherwise or anything that I say now during the course of this instruction to you that I have an opinion about the facts in this case. The law does not allow me to have an opinion about the facts in this case.

This is a matter solely for you, the jury, to determine. As jurors, it is your duty to determine the effect, value, weight, and truth of the evidence presented during this trial.

(R. p. 602, line 24 – p. 603, line 8.) The jury was also reminded in both opening and closing charges of the State's burden of proof. (R. p. 107, lines 1-5; p. 608, line 5 – p. 610, line 1.) Clearly the trial court's charge in this case comported with our state's precedent in charging S.C. Code §16-3-657 as this single instruction was not unduly emphasized and the charge as a whole comported with the law. State v. Orozco, 392 S.C. 212, 221-225, 708 S.E.2d 227, 232-234 (Ct. App. 2011) (reviewing South Carolina precedent on jury charge on §16-3-657 and noting Court of Appeals bound by Rayfield

precedent) (cert. sought and granted only as to issue regarding attempted suicide as evidence of guilt). The same arguments now advanced have been largely raised and ruled upon in Schumpert, Rayfield, Hill, and Orozco.

Appellant argues that the jury's question regarding the charge on §16-3-657 proves that the charge permitted by Schumpert, Rayfield, and Hill is confusing, places undue emphasis on the testimony of the victim, creates an improper implication that the jury must accept the victim's testimony as true, and constitutes an improper comment on the facts. Appellant suggests that the court should have instructed the jury that the statute does not require them to accept the victim's testimony as being true. The State submits that the trial court correctly answered the jury's question by responding with the charge on credibility of *all* witnesses.

The jury posed several questions during deliberations. In addition to asking about the "no corroboration" charge, the jury asked for a copy of the law (the court repeated the section on criminal sexual conduct), asked for clarification of the definition of aggravated battery (the court read the definition), and asked for the defendant's transcript testimony. (R. p. 618, line 10 – p.621, line 12; p. 630, line 4 – p. 636, line 21; p. 636, line 25 – p. 637, line 7; p. 638, line 22 – p. 639, line 11.) The trial judge also recognized that she had made an error in defining criminal sexual conduct and called the jury in to re-charge the offense correctly. (R. p. 621, line 16 – p. 630, line 3.) Appellant argues that the jury's question about §16-3-657 indicates that the jury did not understand the instruction. The jury's note read:

The SC law that the victim testimony in CSE [sic] does not have to be corroborated
Does the law imply that the victim's testimony must be accepted as being true?

(R. p. 706, Court's Exhibit 8.) In response, the trial judge repeated the court's instruction on the credibility of *all* witnesses. (R. p. 639, line 24 – p. 640, line 18.) This was the correct resolution of the jury's question, and the response certainly cleared any confusion the jury may have had.

Appellant argues that his case can be differentiated from Schumpert, Rayfield, and Hill in that those cases involved minor victims, not situations between adults. Our precedent lends no basis for delineating the applicability of §16-3-657 based on the age of the victim. The specific language in §16-3-657 which makes it applicable in prosecutions under S.C. Code §§ 16-3-652 through 16-3-658 means that the statute applies equally in cases involving both adult and minor victims.

Further, the “no corroboration” instruction cannot be paralleled with other instructions. The instruction at issue does not state that the jury is required to believe the victim's testimony or that such testimony, if believed, necessarily establishes the defendant's guilt – those determinations are still left to the jury. Comparisons to charges that guilt may be inferred from flight or presence of a drug being are inapposite. S.C. Code §16-3-657 imparts no instruction that the victim's testimony necessarily establishes guilt.

S.C. Code §16-3-657 also operates in a unique backdrop. Cases involving sexual violence are unique in some aspects. These crimes are particularly likely to be witnessed by only the victim and perpetrator. For a variety of reasons, forensic evidence often is unavailable. The necessity for the “no corroboration” rule evolved from the historical legal requirements that the alleged victims' accusation *be* corroborated. See generally Vitauts M. Gulbis, Modern Status of Rule Regarding Necessity for Corroboration of Victim's Testimony in Prosecution for Sexual Offense, 31 A.L.R. 4th 120 (1984);

Michelle Anderson, Diminishing the Legal Impact of Negative Social Attitudes Toward Acquaintance Rape Victims, 13 New Crim. L. Rev. 644 (2010) (discussing evolution of rape law). S.C. Code §16-3-657 codifies the change from this historical view, informing both trial court and society that under the law the victim who survived a sexual assault without the “advantage” of physical injuries or corroborative evidence of the assault can still be believed. As recognized in Rayfield,

The Legislature has decided it is reasonable and appropriate in criminal sexual conduct cases to make abundantly clear - *not only to the judge but also to the jury* - that a defendant may be convicted solely on the basis of a victim’s testimony.

Rayfield, 369 S.C. at 117, 631 S.E.2d at 250. [Emphasis supplied.] In adopting §16-3-657, our Legislature has ensured that both judge and jury understand that such cases may proceed solely on the basis of the victim’s testimony despite long-standing beliefs to the contrary.

Finally, in this case Victim’s story was corroborated by evidence. At least one witness confirmed marks to Victim’s face and neck, corroborating her account of being grabbed by the throat and punched in the face. Forensic evidence in the form of Appellant’s DNA being found in Victim’s underwear the night of the attack further corroborates that sexual contact occurred. Jackie and law enforcement offered corroboration that Victim complained of a sexual assault. See for example State v. Barrett, 299, S.C. 485, 386 S.E.2d 242 (1989) (when the victim testifies, evidence from other witnesses that she complained of the sexual assault is admissible in corroboration, limited to the time and place of the assault). Victim’s account was also corroborated by her decision to immediately move from the apartment where the assault occurred. With this evidence, coupled with Appellant’s incredible trial testimony, the outcome of the trial

would not have changed had the charge on §16-3-657 not been given. Therefore, even if the charge were deemed to be error, such error would not require reversal.

CONCLUSION


For the reasons discussed above, the State requests that this Court deny the
Petition for a Writ of Certiorari.